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 Cactus, 1941  

 

WAGL-270 
Call Sign: NRZH  

 

Builder: Marine Iron & Shipbuilding Corporation, Duluth, MN 

Builder's Number: bn CG-76 

Cost:  $782,381 

Length:  180' oa 

Beam: 37' mb 

Draft:  12' max (1945); 14' 7" (1966) 

Displacement: 935 fl (1945); 1,026 fl (1966); 700 light (1966) 

Keel Laid: 31 March 1941 

Launched: 25 November 1941 

Commissioned: 1 September 1942 
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Decommissioned: 23 November 1971 

Status: Sold 9 October 1973 

Propulsion:  1 electric motor connected to 2 Westinghouse generators driven by 2 Cooper-
Bessemer-type GND-8, 4-cycle diesels; single screw 

Top speed: 13.0 kts sustained (1945); 11.9 kts sustained (1966)  

Economic speed: 8.3 kts (1945); 8.5 kts (1966) 

Complement: 6 Officers, 74 men (1945); 4 officers, 2 warrants, 47 men (1966) 

Electronics:  
    Radar: Bk (1943); SL-1 (1945) 
    Sonar: WEA-2 (1945) 

Armament: 1-3"/50 (single), 2-20mm/80 (single), 2 depth charge tracks, 2 Mousetraps, 4 Y-guns 
(1945); None (1966) 

 

Class History: 

When the US Coast Guard absorbed the Bureau of Lighthouses on 1 July 1939, Juniper, a 177-
foot all welded steel buoy tender, was under construction and plans for a successor were on the 
drawing board. Plans initiated by the Bureau of Lighthouses called for the construction of several 
identical buoy tenders to replace existing coastal buoy tenders. The preliminary designs 
generated by the Bureau were for a vessel similar to Juniper. When the Aids to Navigation 
(ATON) system transferred to Coast Guard control, USCG planners reviewed the preliminary 
plans for the new class of buoy tenders and modified them to meet the service’s multi-mission 
role. To be an effective part of the Coast Guard, the new buoy tenders needed to be multi-
purpose platforms. They had to be capable of conducting Search and Rescue (SAR) and Law 
Enforcement (LE) missions, as well as their primary mission tending ATON. On 20 January 1941 
the US Coast Guard contracted Marine Iron and Shipbuilding Company of Duluth , Minnesota to 
build the design based on Juniper and modified to meet the service’s requirements. On 31 March 
1941 Marine Iron and Shipbuilding laid the keel for the first vessel of the new buoy tender class. 
The new vessel measured 180 feet overall and had a beam of 37 feet at the extreme. She had a 
displacement of 935 tons and drew 12 feet. The new design was similar to Juniper in appearance 
but did exhibit some important differences. Gone was the turtle back forecastle. A notched 
forefoot, ice-belt at the waterline, and reinforced bow gave the vessel icebreaking capabilities. 
Extending the superstructure to the ship’s sides increased interior volume above the main deck. A 
single propeller, turned by an electric motor powered by twin diesel generators, replaced the twin-
screw arrangement. The 30,000-gallon fuel capacity gave the new design a range of 12,000 miles 
at a 12-knot cruising speed; at 8.3 knots the cruising range increased to 17,000 miles. Finer lines 
at the bow and stern increased the new tender’s sea keeping ability in rough weather; an 
increase in draft also promoted seaworthiness. Numerous minor alterations increased the 
vessel’s utility as a SAR platform while deck-mounted guns and depth charge racks supported 
military duties. Marine Iron and Shipbuilding launched the prototype vessel on 25 November 
1941, even as three more took shape. Preparations also went forward to begin a fifth vessel. By 
the time they commissioned the first 180, Cactus, on 1 September 1942 twelve vessels were 
under construction at the Marine Iron shipyard and at the Zenith Dredge Company shipyard, also 
in Duluth . The initial designation for the new buoy tenders was WAGL, which was a US Navy 
designation denoting an auxiliary vessel, lighthouse tender. The designation changed from WAGL 
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to WLB in 1965. A few of the 180s have been designated as other types of vessels over the 
years; three became WMECs (medium endurance cutters), one of those, Evergreen, was a 
WAGO (oceanographic research vessel) before it became a WMEC. Gentian was a WMEC for a 
time and was then designated a WIX (Training Cutter) in 1999. Though designations have 
changed over time, each vessel’s hull number has remained the same since commissioning. 

DIFFERENCES WITHIN THE 180' CLASS 

Six “B” or Mesquite class tenders followed the initial production run of thirteen vessels in the “A’ 
or Cactus-class. The first Mesquite-class tender hit the water on 14 November 1942. Marine Iron 
and Shipbuilding built all except one of the Mesquite-class. The USCG built the lone exception, 
Ironwood, at the service’s shipyard in Curtis Bay, Maryland. Twenty Iris or “C” class vessels 
followed the Mesquite-class tenders. The first launch of an Iris class vessel took place on 18 June 
1943, and the final addition to the class slipped off the ways on 18 May 1944. Differences among 
the three classes were minimal. Their basic dimensions, length and beam were the same and 
draft varied based on loading. All were built of welded steel along the same framing pattern and 
with very similar internal and external layouts. All three classes could steam 8,000 miles at 13 
knots, 12,000 miles at 12 knots, and 17,000 miles at 8.3 knots; though the “B” and “C” class 
vessels had engines with 20 percent more power than the “A” class. The “A” class vessels could 
carry the most fuel with a tank capacity of 30,000 gallons. The “C” class carried 29,335 gallons 
and the “B” class about 700 gallons less. The layout of the Commanding Officer’s cabin and the 
radio room was slightly different in the “A” class vessels. The bridge wing door on the “B” and “C” 
vessels opened to the side while the doors on the “A” vessels opened forward. The cargo holds 
as originally laid out in the “C” were larger, by a nominal amount, than those in the other vessels. 
To hoist buoys and cargo, the “A” vessels carried an A-frame structure that straddled the 
superstructure and supported the cargo boom. The other two classes were fitted with power 
vangs that attached to the bridge wings and manipulated the cargo boom. The “A” vessels were 
originally fitted with manilla line as part of the cargo handling system while the second and third 
generation vessels used wire rope. From the outside, other than the A-frame used in the first 
production run, the three classes were almost indistinguishable. Over the years their internal 
differences and variation in equipment were minimized by successive overhauls and 
improvements. Moreover, it does not appear that any one of the three classes was superior to the 
other two in the eyes of the US Coast Guard administration or the men who manned the buoy 
tender fleet. Tenders from each of the three classes remained in use past the turn of the 21st 
century. It usually took from two to four months between the time shipyard workers laid a keel and 
the day the vessel slipped off the ways. Once launched, however, the tenders were far from 
ready for service. The practice was to build the superstructure, finish the interior, and complete 
the machinery installation while the vessel was floating. Hence, on launch day the tenders were 
little more than finished hulls. As the shipyard workers neared the end of the building process, the 
Coast Guard would begin assigning officers and men to the vessels. Once each vessel was 
complete and ready to enter active service, the US Coast Guard commissioned her as part of the 
fleet. Often the commissioning ceremonies took place after the tender had departed from Duluth 
and arrived at an initial duty station. For the 180s as a whole, it took an average period of 308 
days to go from the beginning of construction to commissioning. Divided according to sub-class, 
the elapsed time from keel laying to commissioning averaged 360 days for the Cactus-class; 323 
days for the Mesquite-class; and 269 days for the Iris-class. The building process averaged 
192,018 man-hours of labor per vessel. In keeping with the Lighthouse Service practice of 
naming tenders after foliage, all of the 180s were named after trees, shrubs, or flowers.  

A GREAT DESIGN  

The 180-foot buoy-tending cutters built for the US Coast Guard during the early 1940s are 
remarkable in terms of their longevity. Except the US Coast Guard's Storis, no other military 
vessels on active duty today served in World War II. The 180s longevity is not a case of superior 
construction, though they were undoubtedly built quite solidly. The service performed by the class 
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for over sixty years is a function of their design. The 180s were extremely versatile and perfectly 
suited for their multifaceted role. They could break ice, replace a buoy, and save a sinking ship all 
in the course of a day's work. Moreover, they could complete these missions within sight of their 
homeport or steam across thousands of miles of ocean to complete an assigned task. They did 
not become outmoded until computers, satellites, and automation changed the way ships are built 
and equipped. The US Coast Guard spent time and money keeping the 180s in service long 
beyond their projected life span because that remained the best option. These ships that fought 
U-boats in World War II have spent millions of hours since making the world's waterways a safer 
place for science, commerce, and recreation. This was possible due to the design’s versatility and 
reliability. Obsolescence crept up on the 180s very slowly, producing a tenure unmatched in 
twentieth-century American maritime history. The 180-foot buoy tenders proved to be extremely 
versatile vessels during their long careers. Though all spent some portion of their time afloat 
servicing buoys, they served in many other pursuits as well. Many of these alternate activities 
revolved around the vessel's intended secondary missions, search and rescue, law enforcement, 
and icebreaking. Often, however, the tenders carried out missions never envisioned by their 
designers, ranging from transporting rare tropical fish to landing scientific parties on drifting 
icebergs. This plethora of pursuits when combined with the wide geographic distribution of the 
180s makes it difficult to describe a typical or generic career for a 180. The oceangoing buoy 
tenders built for the US Coast Guard in the early 1940s served around the world and fulfilled the 
service's requirement for a true multi-mission capable platform.

 

Cutter History: 

USCGC Cactus was initially assigned to the First District in 1942 and homeported at Boston, MA. 
On 12 June 1943 the tender collided with Manasquan and received considerable damage. After 
World War II Cactus continued to serve the First District from Boston. In addition to tending 
ATON, the cutter also performed SAR and LE duties. On 2 March 1952 Cactus provided 
assistance to FV Dorothy and Mary 20 miles south of Nantucket. On 16 November 1953 Cactus 
fought a fire on FV Jane and Patricia and later, on 26 August 1954 assisted FV Western Pride 
which had grounded near Provincetown, MA. In 1957 Cactus assisted the grounded MV Franco 
Lisi near Salem, MA on 10 February and on 27 July fought a pier fire in Boston and moved a 450-
foot Norwegian merchant vessel to safety away from the flames. During the night of 21-22 
February 1959 Cactus assisted FV Jo-Ann and on 24-25 January 1966 she escorted the disabled 
merchant vessel, South African Victory to Boston. In 1967 Cactus' homeport was changed to 
Bristol, RI. On 4 February 1969 Cactus towed the disabled FV Chrisway to safety from 140 miles 
southeast of Cape Henry. Later in 1969 the ship's homeport was again changed. She arrived at 
her new station at Astoria, OR in 1970 where she served until her decommissioning in 1971. 
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Photographs: 

 

30 March 1942-Cactus under construction at the  
Marine Iron & Shipbuilding Corporation, Duluth, MN 

 

 

11 April 1942- Cactus still under construction after launching at the Marine Iron & Shipbuilding 
Corporation, Duluth, MN 
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February 1949- Cactus in Boston Harbor 

 

September 1968- Cactus anchored at Nassau, Bahamas 
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1 April 1969- Cactus  

 

20 August 1971- Cactus off Washington State  
(photo by USCG Photographer Ken Lane; Photo Number 092071-1-10) 
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2 October 1994- Former CGC Cactus at the breakers yard in Tacoma, WA 
(photo taken by LCDR Wayne P. Coffelt, USCGR) 

Sources: 

Cutter History File, Coast Guard Historian's Office. 

Dictionary of American Naval Fighting Ships.  Washington, DC: USGPO. 

Donald Canney.  U.S. Coast Guard and Revenue Cutters, 1790-1935.  Annapolis, MD: Naval 
Institute Press, 1995. 

“Early Radio”. U.S. Coast Guard Magazine (February, 1929), p. 19. 

Alex R. Larzelere.  The Coast Guard in World War I: An Untold Story.  Annapolis: Naval Institute 
Press, 2003. 

U.S. Coast Guard.  Record of Movements: Vessels of the United States Coast Guard: 1790 - 
December 31, 1933.  Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1934; 1989 (reprint). 

 

8 
 


